IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

V.

Complainant,

Case No. SC01-114

[TFB Case Nos. 2000-30,672(07C);

2000-32,134(07C);

2000-32,142(07C)]

JONATHAN ISAAC ROTSTEIN,

Rec	pond	ent
VC2	pona	CIII.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850)561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 123390

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850)561-5600 ATTORNEY NO. 253847

AND

ELIZABETH SIKORA CONAN Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 1200 Edgewater Drive Orlando, Florida, 32804-6314 (407)425-5424 ATTORNEY NO. 9628

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 25, 2000, the Seventh Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "C" voted to find probable cause in this matter. The complaint was filed with the Supreme Court of Florida on January 19, 2001 and The Honorable L. Page Haddock was appointed as referee on February 5, 2001.

Judge Haddock entertained the final hearing on June 26 and June 27, 2001, and entered his report of referee on August 3, 2001 recommending that respondent be found guilty of violating the following Rules Regulating The Florida Bar in connection with the Linda Jarrett matter: 3-4.3 for engaging in conduct that was contrary to honesty and justice; 4-1.4(a) for failing to keep a client reasonably informed about the status of a matter; 4-3.3 for knowingly making a false statement of material fact or law to a tribunal; 4-8.1(a) for knowingly making a false statement of material fact in connection with a disciplinary matter; 4-8.4(c) for engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation; and 4-8.4(d) for engaging in conduct that was prejudicial to the administration of justice.

Additionally, the referee determined that respondent improperly filed motions to enforce settlement against two personal injury clients, Margaret Beaver and Olga Petrucha, without client knowledge or consent, and without first

withdrawing from his representation of Ms. Beaver, whose matter remained pending. The referee found that respondent thereby knowingly took a position adverse to his clients, violating Rule 4-1.7 of The Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

The referee recommended that respondent be suspended from the practice of law for a period of one year, submit payment of costs associated with the action, re-take the ethics portion of the Bar exam and prove fitness/rehabilitation to resume practice prior to his reinstatement.

The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar considered the report of referee at its August 2001 meeting and voted to seek enhancement of the suspension to a term of three years. The Bar then filed its Petition for Review on September 5, 2001, and respondent cross-petitioned for review on September 10, 2001.

By Order received by the Bar on September 24, 2001, this Court granted the Bar's motion to extend time to file its initial brief on the merits, allowing for a filing up to and including the date of November 5, 2001.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Bar adopts the referee's findings of fact as set forth in his report. The following facts are taken from the report of referee contained in the appendix herein and as otherwise noted.

Linda Jarrett retained respondent on May 23, 1998 to pursue a claim against M&M/Mars Company after she allegedly broke her tooth on a piece of candy (ROR-A2; T. 45, L. 19-25; T. 46, L. 1-5). Aside from sending an insurance disclosure letter to M&M/Mars in June 1998, respondent took no further action on behalf of Ms. Jarrett, and the statute of limitations expired in December 1998 (ROR-A2; T. 50, L. 19).

During the Bar's investigation of Ms. Jarrett's subsequent complaint, respondent made intentional misrepresentations to The Florida Bar on four separate occasions related to the representation of Ms. Jarrett. First, respondent created and backdated to July 8, 1998 a letter purportedly withdrawing from Ms. Jarrett's case and purportedly advising Ms. Jarrett of the statute of limitations (ROR-A 2; T. 16, L. 16-21; T. 47, L. 9-25; T. 48, L. 1). Second, in his initial response to the Bar's inquiry dated January 29, 2000, respondent intentionally misrepresented that he timely sent the withdrawal/statute of limitations letter to his client (ROR-A 2; T. 54, L. 16-25; T. 55, L. 1-4). Respondent intentionally misrepresented that he

timely sent the subject letter for a third time in his February 26, 2000 response to the Bar's investigating member, Ray Ruester (ROR-A 2; T. 51, L. 17-21; T. 55 L. 7-23; T. 56, L. 2-9). Finally, respondent intentionally misrepresented that he timely sent the subject letter in another response to Mr. Ruester dated May 14, 2000 (ROR-A 2; T. 57-59).

The Bar gathered and obtained unequivocal evidence supporting respondent's fraud. Only upon becoming aware of this evidence via the grievance committee's scheduled probable cause vote notice did respondent retain counsel and admit to these intentional deceptions (ROR-A 2; T. 397, L. 2-8; T. 400, L. 21-25).

At final hearing, the referee found that respondent submitted four false documents to the grievance committee and to The Florida Bar (ROR-A 2; T. 349, L. 23-24; T. 335, L. 24-25). Additionally, the referee determined that respondent improperly filed motions to enforce settlement against two personal injury clients. Margaret Beaver retained respondent to represent her in a slip-and-fall injury claim (ROR-A 3; T. 65, L. 11-13), and following voluntary settlement at mediation, refused to sign settlement paperwork. Respondent then filed a motion to enforce the mediation settlement without first consulting with Ms. Beaver or obtaining her consent, thus knowingly taking a position adverse to his client (ROR-A 3; T. 69, L.

10-23). Similarly, personal injury client Olga Petrucha refused to endorse a settlement check following voluntary settlement at mediation when she learned that her net proceeds amounted to only \$12.15 (ROR-A 3; T. 82, L. 2-20). Without his client's knowledge or consent, respondent filed a motion to enforce the mediation settlement agreement, thus knowingly taking a position adverse to his client (ROR-A 3; T. 84, L. 1-18), thereby violating Rule 4-1.7 of The Rules Regulating The Florida Bar in each case (ROR-A 4; T. 339, L. 6-12; T. 344, L. 4-11).

During the proceedings on June 26 and 27, 2001, respondent testified under oath that he never counseled clients to lie to the court (T. 401, L. 9-13) and that he was not previously sanctioned in connection with counseling clients to lie to the court (T. 404, L. 8-13).

In rebuttal, Judge Richard Orfinger testified that he did informally sanction respondent for engaging in "fraud on the court" (T. 429, L. 15-16), explaining that he felt respondent had participated in fraudulently obtaining a continuance for his former clients (T. 428, L. 6-15). Judge Orfinger testified that he dismissed respondent's clients' case with prejudice as a result (T. 428, L. 18) and that he did sanction respondent by ordering him to pay the opposing party's attorney's fees (T. 425, L. 22-24; T. 428, L. 16-22).

After hearing the evidence and arguments of counsel, and after considering the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and aggravating/mitigating factors, the referee recommended respondent be suspended for a period of one year, pay costs associated with this disciplinary action, re-take the ethics portion of the Bar exam and prove his fitness/rehabilitation to resume the practice of law prior to reinstatement (ROR-A 4-5; T. 483, L. 8-16).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A one year suspension is insufficient considering the serious nature of respondent's misconduct. This Court has determined that consideration of prior/cumulative misconduct, the attorney's comprehension of wrongdoing, and the degree of mitigation, along with the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, is appropriate to enhance a recommended discipline.

This Court is not being asked to review an isolated act of deliberate deception. After being disciplined by the Bar in October 1999, respondent systematically engaged in acts to deliberately deceive the Bar and to hinder its investigation of his misconduct. Respondent refused to admit his wrongdoing and refused to make restitution to the aggrieved client until after he became aware that the grievance committee had discovered his fraud and he retained counsel. To aggravate the situation, respondent falsely testified during the final hearing regarding whether he had previously counseled clients to deceive the court and whether he was sanctioned for that conduct. Judge Richard Orfinger testified that he in fact imposed informal sanctions on respondent for engaging in what Judge Orfinger perceived as fraud upon his court.

Respondent additionally engaged in a conflict of interest by filing motions to compel settlement against two clients. Respondent maintained that his actions in

so doing were designed to protect the clients from incurring opposing party's fees and costs, and denied any material interest in his own attorney's fee through these acts (T. 98-101). However, the testimony of the witnesses bore out that respondent's filing the motions against his own clients were highly unusual acts (T. 165, L. 15-19; T. 168, L. 3-9; T. 209, L. 8-9; T. 252, L. 16; T. 257, L. 23-25; T. 258, L. 1-2; T. 266, L. 5-12; T. 268, L. 7-8; T. 278, L. 20-24; T. 279, L. 9-12), and the referee himself noted that he had never seen such a course of conduct in his decades on the bench (T. 340, L. 10-16).

The referee noted that the three judges whose depositions were taken in this matter ultimately agreed that respondent had a conflict of interest with Ms. Beaver and Ms. Petrucha (T. 342, L. 2-3, L. 16-18). Respondent, however, failed to acknowledge any understanding of this conflict during these proceedings.

There is no question that respondent's conduct was deliberate, intentional and systematic. The referee found that respondent intentionally deceived the Bar on four separate occasions. In light of his recent admonishment, respondent's false testimony regarding prior sanctions during these very proceedings on charges of misrepresentation demonstrates respondent's disregard for the Rules Regulating. The Florida Bar and for the disciplinary process itself. Respondent's repeated pattern of deception reflects adversely both on his fitness as a lawyer and on the

reputation and dignity of the profession. No less than a three year term of suspension would be appropriate to impress respondent with seriousness of his misconduct and fulfill the goals of discipline.

ISSUE

WHETHER NO LESS THAN A THREE YEAR TERM OF SUSPENSION FROM THE PRACTICE OF LAW WOULD BE AN APPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR KNOWINGLY MAKING REPEATED FALSE STATEMENTS OF MATERIAL FACT AND FOR ENGAGING IN CONDUCT INVOLVING DISHONESTY, FRAUD, DECEIT AND MISREPRESENTATION.

ARGUMENT

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDED DISCIPLINE, A ONE YEAR SUSPENSION, IS INSUFFICIENT CONSIDERING THE SERIOUS NATURE OF RESPONDENT'S MISCONDUCT. CASES PREVIOUSLY DECIDED BY THIS COURT, TOGETHER WITH THE FLORIDA STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER SANCTIONS, SUPPORT THE IMPOSITION OF A THREE YEAR SUSPENSION.

A. Respondent's instant acts of cumulative misconduct, considered with his prior disciplinary record, merit a three year suspension.

"In reviewing a referee's recommendation of discipline, this Court's 'scope of review is somewhat broader than that afforded to findings of fact because, ultimately, it is [the Court's] responsibility to order an appropriate punishment."

The Florida Bar v. Wolfe, 759 So. 2d 639, 644 (Fla. 2000), citing The Florida Bar v. Anderson, 538 So. 2d 852, 854 (Fla. 1989). A judgment must be fair to society, fair to the accused attorney, and severe enough to deter others who may be "tempted to become involved in like violations." The Florida Bar v. Cibula, 725 So. 2d 360, 363 (Fla. 1988), quoting The Florida Bar v. Reed, 644 So. 2d 1355,

1357 (Fla. 1994).

In <u>Wolfe</u>, a case involving improper in-person solicitation of clients in tornado-damaged areas, this Court considered three factors in concluding to enhance the referee's recommended discipline against the accused attorney: (1) prior/cumulative misconduct, (2) the degree of comprehension of wrongdoing, and (3) the degree of mitigation.

The <u>Wolfe</u> factors prove instructive in the instant case. On October 1, 1999, respondent had been disciplined by the Bar with an admonishment for minor misconduct for failing to act with reasonable diligence on behalf of a former client, and for failing to keep that client reasonably informed about case status and respondent's contemplated withdrawal. At around the same time as his admonishment, respondent created a fraudulent letter, then, repeatedly over the course of the next year, held that letter out as evidence he timely sent notice to client Linda Jarrett of his withdrawal and of the statute of limitations. The referee found that respondent deliberately submitted false information to the Bar on four separate occasions during the course of these disciplinary proceedings (ROR-A 2).

In addition, during these very proceedings exposing respondent's pattern of misrepresentations, respondent lied under oath. Respondent testified at the final hearing that he never counseled clients to mislead the court (T. 401, L. 9-13) and

that he was not previously sanctioned in connection with so counseling clients (T. 404, L. 8-13). Respondent testified that he counseled his clients about the option of firing and later rehiring him to obtain a continuance five or six years ago because respondent knew the court would not entertain another motion to continue (T. 403, L. 1-15). He testified that following this exchange, he had a "conversation" with Judge Richard Orfinger about it, "and that was it" (T. 403, L. 20-22). He testified that he was not sanctioned \$12,000.00 by the judge (T. 404, L. 10) and that he could not recall if the clients' case was dismissed (T. 404, L. 11-13).

In rebuttal, Judge Orfinger testified that he did sanction respondent for engaging in a "fraud on the court" (T. 429, L. 15-16), explaining that he believed respondent had participated in fraudulently obtaining a continuance for his clients (T. 428, L. 6-15). Judge Orfinger testified that he dismissed respondent's clients' case with prejudice as a result (T. 428, L. 18), and sanctioned respondent by ordering him to pay attorney's fees (T. 425, L. 22-24; T. 428, L. 16-22).

The Bar could not foresee at the time the Complaint was drafted that respondent would lie at the final hearing. This situation is akin to that in <u>The Florida Bar v. Stillman</u>, 401 So. 2d 1306, 1307 (Fla. 1981), where this Court found evidence "not squarely within the scope of the Bar's accusations" admissible as relevant to the questions of the accused attorney's fitness to practice law and to

appropriate discipline. Certainly, respondent here was on notice that he was under investigation for engaging in deceitful conduct (T. 397, L. 2-17). Thus, this Court could properly consider the record of respondent's false testimony at final hearing as evidence of cumulative misconduct.

This Court views cumulative misconduct more seriously than an isolated act of misconduct, "especially where the misconduct at issue is similar in nature." <u>The Florida Bar v. Klein</u>, 774 So. 2d 685, 691 (Fla. 2000), citing <u>The Florida Bar v. Bern</u>, 425 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1982). "Honesty and candor in dealing with others is part of the foundation upon which respect for the profession is based." <u>The Florida Bar v. Poplack</u>, 599 So. 2d 116, 118 (Fla. 1992). An attorney "is draped with the insignia of a great profession and he cannot afford to drag it in the dirt." <u>Dodd v. Florida Bar</u>, 118 So. 2d 17, 21 (Fla. 1960), Justice Terrell, concurring.

Respondent's prior disciplinary record, four subsequent affirmative acts of deception to the Bar, and false testimony during the final hearing merit the imposition of no less than a three year suspension by this Court. The discipline recommended by the referee, a one year suspension, falls short of effectively proscribing the type of cumulative, repeated, and deliberate deception in which respondent has engaged.

B. Respondent's continued misrepresentations, despite his

comprehension of wrongdoing, merit a three year suspension.

Another factor this Court considered in enhancing the <u>Wolfe</u> sanctions was the attorney's comprehension of wrongdoing. "[W]hen an attorney affirmatively engages in conduct" he "knows to be improper, more severe discipline is warranted." <u>Wolfe</u>, 759 So. 2d at 645.

Respondent testified that he created the false withdrawal letter in September 1999 (T. 47, L. 22; T. 386, L. 9) when he "realized the statute of limitations had been missed" and he "panicked" (T. 47-48; L. 25-1). He testified that he first became aware of Ms. Jarrett's grievance to the Bar in November 1999 (T. 48, L. 14-19). He then testified that he deliberately made false statements to the Bar regarding the existence of the withdrawal letter in January 2000, February 2000, and May 2000 (T. 387-388), affirmatively choosing to stay silent regarding his deception, both to the Bar and to Ms. Jarrett, despite the ongoing Bar investigations (T. 397-400).

Respondent testified that he became aware that the grievance committee was investigating possible misrepresentations made by respondent when he received the notice of probable cause vote in August 2000 (T. 397, L. 2-17) and that he subsequently retained counsel. He failed to acknowledge his misconduct until faced with the knowledge that the grievance committee had discovered his fraud,

and notwithstanding his awareness of the wrongfulness of his acts, respondent chose to perpetuate a deception on the Bar and on his client, blatantly disregarding his ethical obligation. The referee found that while disbarment is not an inappropriate sanction¹ under these facts, he believed it was "not required or appropriate" (T. 480-481, L. 19-25, 1-10).

Indeed, this Court has found disbarment to be appropriate where attorneys made intentional misrepresentations to the Bar during disciplinary proceedings. In The Florida Bar v. Orta, 689 So. 2d 270 (Fla. 1997), an attorney made misrepresentations to the Bar during the Bar's investigation regarding his petition for reinstatement by failing to accurately describe foreign property holdings until after he was caught lying and was disbarred accordingly. Similarly, in The Florida Bar v. Budnitz, 690 So. 2d 1239 (Fla. 1997), this Court disbarred an attorney for violating Rule 4-8.1(a) by knowingly making a false statement of material fact in a disciplinary matter, specifically for backdating a notarized document. An attorney was also disbarred for creating, signing and mailing various false documents in violation of Rule 4-8.4(d) in The Florida Bar v. Cox, 718 So. 2d 788 (Fla. 1998),

¹ The referee found that appropriate discipline in this case could range from suspension to disbarment. Pursuant to the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions 6.11 and 5.11, disbarment is appropriate when a lawyer, with the intent to deceive the court, knowingly makes a false statement or submits a false document, and likewise when a lawyer engages in any intentional conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice.

and in <u>The Florida Bar v. Barenz</u>, 500 So. 2d 1344 (Fla. 1987), an attorney was disbarred after making false representations to the grievance committee during its investigation, failing to properly record instruments, and issuing a title insurance policy without first clearing mortgage liens on a property.

The Bar maintains that a term of suspension of no less than three years would serve to sufficiently punish respondent for his breach of ethics and would serve to encourage respondent's reflection on the need for reformation and rehabilitation.

A three year term of suspension for engaging in intentionally deceptive misconduct is supported by <u>The Florida Bar v. Klausner</u>, 721 So. 2d 720 (Fla. 1998), where an attorney engaged in fraudulent conduct similar to respondent's by forging signatures on documents submitted to the court on behalf of his client and for falsely representing himself to the court.

A three year suspension is also supported by the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, as outlined by the referee. Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the public, or the legal system. See Fla. Stds. Imposing Law. Sancs. 7.2. By intentionally committing repeated acts of fraud upon the Bar and upon his client, respondent's misconduct

reflects adversely on his fitness as a lawyer and on the reputation and dignity of the profession.

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