IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Supreme Court Case

Complainant,

No. SC01-114

v.

The Florida Bar File

JONATHAN ISAAC ROTSTEIN,

Nos. 2000-30,672(07C);
2000-32,134(07C);
2000-32,142(07C)

Respondent.

_____ /

On Petition for Review

of
the Referee's Report
in a Disciplinary
Proceeding.

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF AND
INITIAL BRIEF ON CROSS APPEAL**

PATRICIA S. ETKIN
The Florida Bar No. 290742
WEISS & ETKIN
150 South Pine Island Road, Suite 320
954-424-9272
COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent initially engaged in deceptive actions in an effort to conceal error regarding his failure to timely file suit on behalf of a client in a personal injury matter. Respondent repudiated these actions and repeatedly disavowed his misrepresentation prior to, during, and subsequent to the Grievance Committee hearing that was scheduled to consider the client's Bar complaint. Respondent testified truthfully concerning his actions and expressed remorse. Respondent suggested that the client retain counsel. The client did and her claim against Respondent for his inaction was settled. The client has been made whole. The client has forgiven Respondent. The Bar has not.

This case is **not** about false testimony; this case is **not** about fraudulent conduct; this case is **not** about creating fictitious court documents. This case is about an attorney who made a mistake, admitted it, apologized for it, and made amends. It is about a wrong that was made right. This is significant mitigation, deserving of substantial consideration.

The Referee's recommendation of guilt as to a violation of Rule 4-3.3, as

charged in Count I of the Bar's Complaint, is clearly erroneous because Respondent did not make any false statement or provide false testimony in any court proceeding. Further, the Referee's recommendation of guilt as to a violation of Rule 4-1.7, as alleged in Counts II and III, is clearly erroneous because there was no evidence of any actual conflict of interest presented at final hearing. In the alternative, Respondent asserts that any violation of Rule 4-1.7 is de minimus, caused little or no client injury, and does not justify the imposition of discipline.

The Referee recommended a one-year suspension. Respondent asserts that this disciplinary recommendation is improperly based upon the Referee's consideration of uncharged misconduct. Furthermore, this disciplinary recommendation is improperly based upon the Referee's finding that Respondent's objection to an unreasonable, unduly burdensome instanter subpoena duces tecum, issued by the Grievance Committee, constitutes an aggravating factor.

Respondent maintains that neither the one-year suspension recommended by the Referee nor the three-year suspension sought by the Bar is supported by existing case law. In lieu thereof, Respondent would urge this Court to impose a suspension

of 10-days as discipline for the misrepresentation that is the subject of Count I.

Finally, this Court should not approve the other conditions recommended by the Referee; to wit: Respondent retake the ethics portion of the Bar exam and that Respondent be subject to further disciplinary proceedings for his failure to fully comply with “any of the above” [recommendations].

ARGUMENT

VI. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION THAT RESPONDENT SHOULD BE FOUND GUILTY OF VIOLATING RULE 4-1.7, AS ALLEGED IN COUNTS II AND III, IS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

A. A violation of Rule 4-1.7 must be supported by clear and convincing evidence demonstrating that Respondent's independent professional judgment on behalf of the client in filing a motion to enforce a written mediation settlement agreement was materially limited by Respondent's own interests.

The Bar has the burden to present clear and convincing evidence to establish that the code of conduct governing lawyers has been breached. The Florida Bar v. McCain, 361 So.2d 700 (Fla. 1978); . The Florida Bar v. Rayman, 238 So.2d 594 (1970). The Bar does not meet its burden by merely asserting that Respondent's conduct is violative of a particular disciplinary rule; the Bar must establish, by clear and convincing evidence, the elements of the rule that is alleged to have been violated. A referee's recommendation of guilt of a disciplinary rule violation should be rejected as clearly erroneous when such recommendation is based upon an assertion, rather than evidence establishing the violation.

In the instant case, although the Bar asserted a violation of Rule 4-1.7, neither the Bar nor the Referee identified any interest of Respondent that was in conflict with the interests of either Beaver or Petrucha. Furthermore, the Bar did not present

evidence establishing that any such purported interest materially limited Respondent's exercise of independent professional judgment. These elements are necessary to support a finding that the filing of the motion to enforce the written mediation settlement agreement constituted a violation of Rule 4-1.7.

Attorney/client conflict situations that are contemplated by Rule 4-1.7(b), the language of which is cited by the Referee in his Report [RR 4], involve actions by a lawyer to advance his own interests to the detriment of a client. The instant case, however, does not involve such conduct by Respondent. On the contrary, this case involves a court filing by Respondent, containing neutral language and lacking a prayer for relief, which brings to the court's attention client refusal to finalize a settlement, as required by the written mediation settlement agreement voluntarily executed by the client. Such filing could protect the client from assessment of fees and costs as sanctions for failure to comply with the settlement agreement, if the opposing party initiates action to enforce the agreement and enforcement is ordered by the court.

Is a court filing under this circumstance unethical and a per se violation of Rule

4-1.7? Judge Evander who presided at the hearing on the motion to enforce Beaver's settlement did not think so when he ordered enforcement or when he testified in this disciplinary proceeding. B-EX 26 at 9.

Finally, there is no caselaw authority or ethics opinion which support the Bar's position that the filing of motion to enforce settlement by plaintiff's counsel is a per se violation of Rule 4-1.7.

Under the circumstances presented in this case, the Referee's recommendation that Respondent be found guilty of conflict of interest in violation of Rule 4-1.7 is clearly erroneous and should be rejected.

B. Even if filing a motion to enforce a written mediation settlement agreement is found to constitute a per se violation of Rule 4-1.7, the violation is de minimus, caused little or no client injury, and does not justify the imposition of any discipline.

Rule 3-7.6 (k)(1)(B) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar mandates that a referee's report include "recommendations as to whether the respondent should be found guilty of misconduct justifying disciplinary measures." Hence, a guilty finding involves a two-step analysis: (1) finding a disciplinary rule violation and (2) deciding whether the misconduct warrants the imposition of discipline. Accordingly, the Rules

Regulating The Florida Bar establish a process by which a referee may find a respondent guilty, without imposing a disciplinary sanction.

Moreover, this Court has approved a referee's findings of guilt as to a violation of a disciplinary rule, but determined that no discipline is warranted. See The Florida Bar v. Fetterman, 439 So.2d 835 (Fla. 1983), where this Court found specific disciplinary rule violations involving attorney advertising, but declined to impose a disciplinary sanction. Instead, Fetterman was cautioned against further use of the improper advertisement.

The de minimus nature of the violation is established by the testimony of Judge Will, Judge Monaco, and Judge Rouse, as quoted in the Statement of the Case and Facts. These judges confirmed that they did not recognize the filing of a motion to enforce settlement by plaintiff's attorney to be either a clear conflict or unethical. Neither did attorney La Rue when he made a similar filing because his client refused to comply with an agreed settlement.

Insofar as client injury is concerned, the Referee found:

The possibility of potential injury to the clients from those two acts were very minimal in that I believe that the evidence clearly showed

that the judge in both those cases was going to order the client to comply with the settlement that was reached in the mediation, and so that the amount of potential injury to the client from Mr. Rotstein's filing those pleadings in conflict with his client's interest is minimal, if any. There is a potential injury to the client in each one, but it's minimal.

TR 479-480.

The Referee's finding confirms that enforcement of the Beaver and Petrucha written mediation settlement agreements was inevitable. Accordingly, it is a distinction without a difference as to which party made the filing which brought the clients' noncompliance to the court's attention.

Under these circumstances, even if Respondent's actions are found to be violative of Rule 4-1.7, the imposition of discipline is not warranted.

VII.

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION THAT RESPONDENT SHOULD BE FOUND GUILTY OF VIOLATING RULE 4-3.3, AS ALLEGED IN COUNT I, IS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS WHERE RESPONDENT TESTIFIED TRUTHFULLY AND FULLY DISAVOWED THE MISREPRESENTATION PRIOR TO, DURING, AND SUBSEQUENT TO THE GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE HEARING.

The instant case involves misrepresentation regarding Respondent's withdrawal from the representation of Jarrett which Respondent made during the course of a Bar/Grievance Committee investigation and which he fully disavowed prior to the Grievance Committee hearing at which time Jarrett's Bar Complaint was considered.

Rule 4-8.1(a) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar provides that a lawyer shall not "knowingly make a false statement of material fact" in connection with a disciplinary matter. This is the applicable disciplinary rule violation.

Respondent also was charged with and found guilty of violating Rule 4-3.3 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar (candor toward the tribunal) which prohibits the making of a false statement of material fact or law to a tribunal. The comment to this rule suggests that a tribunal is a court

proceeding. However, the instant case does not involve a false statement made in any court proceeding and further, does not involve any false testimony. Accordingly, Rule 4-3.3 does not apply. This Court should reject the Referee's recommendation of guilt as to a violation of Rule 4-3.3 as clearly erroneous.

V I I I .
THE REFEREE'S FINDING IN AGGRAVATION THAT RESPONDENT'S NONCOMPLIANCE WITH AN INSTANTER SUBPOENA DUCES TECUM, ISSUED BY THE GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE, CONSTITUTES BAD FAITH OBSTRUCTION OF THE DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING IS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS IN THAT RESPONDENT HAD AN ABSOLUTE RIGHT TO ASSERT OBJECTIONS TO THE UNDULY BURDENSOME SUBPOENA AND, IF NECESSARY, TO SEEK PROTECTION FROM THE COURT.

Respondent complied with all subpoenas duces tecum, issued by the Grievance Committee requesting specific documents. TR 91, 343, 345. However, on August 16, 2000, representatives of the Bar appeared at Respondent's office at 10:00 a.m. armed with an instanter subpoena directing that the Bar's representatives be given immediate complete access to Respondent's entire computer system. R-EX 2; TR 91. Respondent believed the instanter subpoena to be unduly burdensome and contacted counsel [TR 93] who immediately asserted objections to the Bar staff investigators and Bar

Counsel. TR 94. Counsel requested that the Bar consider issuing a new subpoena. TR 94; R-EX 2. Respondent was never served with a new subpoena. TR 94.

Nowhere in the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar is a Grievance Committee authorized to use its investigative power to create, in essence, a “search warrant.” Respondent had an absolute right to object to an instanter subpoena duces tecum, issued by the Grievance Committee, that was unreasonable, unduly burdensome, disruptive, and did not adequately ensure that information pertaining to other clients contained within the law firm’s computer system was protected from third-party scrutiny.⁶ Respondent could and did promptly assert both objections as well as an intention to seek court

⁶ Rule 3-7.11(g), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar recognizes that a respondent can claim a privilege or right properly available under applicable law in response to a Grievance Committee subpoena. The right to be free from unreasonable search and seizure is clearly such a right. The Rules Regulating The Florida Bar establish a procedure by which The Florida Bar can seek to have a respondent held in contempt for an improper refusal to comply with a Grievance Committee subpoena. The Bar did not take any action to obtain a judicial determination as to the validity of Respondent’s objections.

review of the instanter subpoena should the Bar insist on compliance. Judicial review was unnecessary because in response to Respondent's objections, the Bar confirmed that it would not pursue the objectionable instanter subpoena, but would explore the possibility of a new subpoena. It never did.

In the absence of evidence that Respondent refused to comply with a subpoena that passed judicial muster, thereby requiring compliance, there is no basis for either the Bar to assert, or the Referee to find, bad faith obstruction of disciplinary proceedings. Accordingly, the Court should reject the Referee's finding [RR 5, TR 476] that Respondent's timely good-faith objection to the instanter subpoena constitutes bad faith obstruction.

IX.

THE BAR'S PRESENTATION OF WITNESS TESTIMONY THAT IS NEITHER THE SUBJECT OF NOR RELATED TO THE MATTERS THAT ARE THE SUBJECT OF THE BAR'S COMPLAINT CONSTITUTES A CLEAR VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS AND IS FUNDAMENTAL ERROR WHEN SUCH TESTIMONY IS RELIED UPON BY THE BAR IN SEEKING AND BY THE REFEREE IN RECOMMENDING ENHANCED DISCIPLINE.

At final hearing, the Bar presented witness testimony pertaining to other allegedly unethical conduct that was unrelated to the allegations set forth in the Bar's Complaint for the purpose of arguing "cumulative misconduct" as a basis to enhance discipline. B-IB 14. The Bar's efforts in this regard began at the deposition of Judge Orfinger when the Bar attempted to elicit testimony regarding a "particular incident" of allegedly unethical conduct. The Bar did not pursue this line of inquiry at deposition when Respondent's counsel objected. Nevertheless, the Bar persisted in efforts to bring this matter to the attention of the Referee at final hearing through Respondent's testimony and the ostensible use of Judge Orfinger as a rebuttal witness.

The incident occurred, probably "five or six years ago". TR 432-433. At that time, Judge Orfinger was a circuit judge in the civil division. TR 426. Respondent withdrew from the representation of plaintiffs who then asked for

a continuance so they could secure new counsel. TR 427. Judge Orfinger later learned that Respondent's clients did not really want to go to trial and Respondent apparently indicated to them that Judge Orfinger wasn't going to give them another continuance so "apparently they concluded that if they discharged [Respondent], I would probably give them a continuance to engage new counsel and that they could then at some point later subsequently re-engage [Respondent]". TR 428. Judge Orfinger felt that was participating in something that "if not over the line, was awfully close to it." TR 428.

Judge Orfinger scheduled a hearing where Respondent's former client and Respondent were present. At this hearing, Judge Orfinger confronted Respondent and "although I disagree with the action that Mr. Rotstein and the clients did, to his credit, he didn't dodge the issue. He owned up to it and said, that's what we talked about; yeah, that's what we did." TR 429-430. Judge Orfinger then took "appropriate action" which was to "sanction" Respondent by suggesting that Respondent "take care of the attorneys fees." TR 428, 431. Judge Orfinger did not formally issue an order. TR 431. He told Respondent

that “he needed to take care of this” and “get the attorneys fees paid.” TR 431.

Judge Orfinger testified that this incident was the “only incident that I ever had involving [Respondent] that I felt reflected some ethical concerns”. TR 434-435. The incident did not change Judge Orfinger’s opinion that Respondent is an honest person. R-EX 13 at 11. When specifically asked whether he believed the incident indicated a lack of honesty, Judge Orfinger stated:

I don’t think it was a lack of honesty. I think it was a -- I think it was poor judgment.

I think that Jon’s client’s desperately wanted a continuance. And I think that they all talked about this and clearly did not think through the ethical ramifications of what it would look like to an outsider if you discharge your lawyer with the idea that there is a high probability that you may re-engage him in the future if you can get a continuance.

But I don’t think -- after conducting a hearing on this with the other lawyer present, with the clients present, questioning them all, and understanding that I was very unhappy, I did not come away with the idea that they sat down and carefully thought through this is how we’re going to commit a fraud on the court.

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